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To Tom,


for his big heart and humor,


and for keeping my eyes fresh


And in memory of George and Willie Muse






I am the true vine, and My father is the vinedresser. Every branch in Me that does not bear fruit He takes away; every branch that bears fruit He prunes, that it may bear more fruit.


— John 15:1–2


For the first time he sought to analyze the burden he bore upon his back, that dead-weight of social degradation partially masked behind a half-named Negro problem. He felt his poverty; without a cent, without a home, without land, tools, or savings, he had entered into competition with rich, landed, skilled neighbors. To be a poor man is hard, but to be a poor race in a land of dollars is the very bottom of hardships.


— W. E. B. Du Bois, The Souls of Black Folk
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Prologue


I Am the True Vine


Their world was so blindingly white that the brothers had to squint to keep from crying. On a clear day, it hurt just to open their eyes. They blinked constantly, trying to make out the hazy objects in front of them, their brows furrowed and their eyes darting from side to side, unable to settle on a focal point. Their eyes were tinged with pink, their irises a watery pale blue.


Their skin was so delicate that it was possible, looking only at the backs of their hands, to mistake the young African-American brothers for the kind of white landed gentry who didn’t have to eke out a living hoeing crabgrass from stony rows of tobacco or suckering the leaves from the stems.


That was as true when they were old men as when they were little boys, back when a white man appeared in Truevine, Virginia, as their neighbors and relatives remembered it — that very bad man, they called him.


Back when everything they knew disappeared behind them in a cloud of red-clay dust.


The year was 1899, as the old people told the story, then and now; the place a sweltering tobacco farm in the Jim Crow South, a remote spot in the foothills of the Blue Ridge Mountains where everyone they knew was either a former slave, or a child or grandchild of slaves. George and Willie Muse were just nine and six years old, but they worked a shift known by sharecroppers as “can see to can’t see” — daylight to dark. “Can to can’t,” for short.


Twenty miles away and twenty-seven years earlier, a man born into slavery named Booker T. Washington had walked four hundred miles from the mountains to the swampy plains, to get himself educated at Hampton Institute. “It was a whole race trying to go to school,” he would write.


Forty miles in the other direction, another former slave, named Lucy Addison, had gotten herself educated at a Quaker college in Philadelphia. In 1886, Addison landed in the railroad boomtown of Roanoke, Virginia, where she set up the city’s first school for blacks in a two-story frame building with long benches and crude desks, using hand-me-down books from the city’s white schools. She became such an icon of education that some elderly African Americans still have her faded portrait hanging on their walls, right next to the Reverend Martin Luther King Jr. and President Obama. Addison inspired Ed Dudley, a dentist’s son who would become President Truman’s ambassador to Liberia. She taught future lawyer Oliver Hill, who would grow up to help overturn the separate-but-equal laws of the day in the landmark decision Brown v. Board of Education.


But such leaps were unheard of for black families in Truevine, where it would take decades before most learned to read and write. While Washington was on his way to fame and the founding of Tuskegee Institute, black children in Truevine were kept out of school when the harvest came in.


They had too much work to do.


Still, in this remote and tiny crossroads, where everyone knew everyone for generations back, George and Willie Muse were different. They were genetic anomalies: albinos born to black parents. Reared at a time when a black man could be jailed or even killed just for looking at a white woman — reckless eye-balling, the charge was officially called — the Muse brothers were doubly cursed.


Their white skin burned at the first blush of sun, and their eyes watered constantly. They squinted so much that they began to develop premature creases in their foreheads. So they looked down as they worked — they always looked down — heeding their mother’s advice to never look toward the sun.


Harriett Muse was fiercely protective. She cloaked her boys in rags to keep their skin from blistering, and for the same reason she made them wear long sleeves when it was 100 degrees. When a vicious dog happened onto the tenant farm where they worked and lunged at little Willie, she chased it away with an iron skillet. She made the boys’ favorite food, ash cakes, a simple corn bread baked over an open fire.


When it snowed she cobbled together a dessert called snow cream out of sugar, vanilla, eggs, and snow. When a rainbow appeared above the mountain ridges, she told them to take solace in it. “That’s God’s promise after the storm,” she said.


She spoiled them as much as a poor sharecropper could, but George and Willie were expected to work, walking the rows of tobacco looking for bugs and picking budworms off the leaves when they found them, squashing them between their fingers as they went.


The boys were squinting, as they usually were, when the bad man appeared. What a surprise the well-heeled stranger was in this hodgepodge of dirt roads, tobacco barns, and shacks where tenants stuffed newspapers into holes in the walls to keep critters out, and the only dependable structure for miles was a white-frame meeting hall that doubled as a one-room school — a school the black community built by hand because the county provided a teacher but not a building for him to teach in.


The white man had arrived in the Virginia backwoods by horse and carriage. He cast a long shadow over the rows where the boys were crouched, working. He went by the nickname Candy, Willie Muse would later tell his family members, and he came from the Hollywood of that era: the circus.


At the turn of the twentieth century, the height of circus popularity, bounty hunters scoured the nooks and crannies of America’s backwoods — and the world — looking for people they could transform into sideshow attractions: acts like Chang and Eng, the world’s most famous conjoined twins, “discovered” by a British merchant in Siam (now Thailand) in 1829, or the Wild Men of Borneo, as P. T. Barnum pitched a pair of dwarf brothers to audiences in 1882 — though they actually hailed from a farm in Ohio.


Somehow the man had heard about the boys — maybe from a shopkeeper in nearby Rocky Mount, the county seat. Maybe a neighbor had seen the ads that circus showmen took out in newspapers and trade publications for freak hunters, as they were called.


“WANTED — To hear from the man that grows three feet in front of your eyes. . . . Call DAN RICE, Sioux City, Iowa.”


Maybe even a member of their own family had given the boys up.


The white man found them working, alone and unsupervised, two snow-white field hands, no more than seventy pounds and four feet tall, dressed in flour-sack clothes and turbans jerry-rigged out of rags and string. As he approached, stepping over the tobacco rows, the boys stood and nodded respectfully, as they’d been taught to do with white men.


When they removed their head coverings at his request, the man gasped. Their hair was kinky, and it was golden.


It was money in his pocket.


Harriett Muse had warned her sons about copperheads amid the tobacco rows, about wolves in the outlying fields. They knew about the perils of what scholars call peonage, the quasi-slavery in which a man could be stripped to his waist, tied to a tree, and lashed with a buggy whip — for the bold act of quitting one farmer’s land to work for better wages down the road. They’d heard the adults talk about the lynch mob in Rocky Mount in 1890, the year George was born, formed to rain vigilante justice down on five blacks accused of setting a fire that had destroyed much of the uptown. Two of the five were hung in the basement of the county jail before evidence surfaced, on appeal, that arson could not be proved.


“Before God I am as innocent of that charge as an angel,” Bird Woods declared as a deputy slipped the noose around his neck. He spoke his truth even as his voice began to quake:


“I bear no malice in my heart towards any one, and my soul is going straight to heaven.”


In 1893, the year of Willie’s birth, a riot in nearby Roanoke erupted after a white produce vendor claimed that a black furnace worker, Thomas Smith, had assaulted her near the city market. Before the next sunrise, two dozen people were wounded and nine men were dead — including Smith, who was hung from a hickory tree, then shot, then dragged through the streets. As if that wasn’t enough finality to the young furnace worker’s life, the next morning rioters burned his body on the banks of the Roanoke River while a crowd of four thousand looked on, some clinging to pieces of the hanging rope they’d grabbed as mementos. The only evidence linking Smith to the crime was the victim’s vague description of her perpetrator: he was “tolerably black,” she said, and wearing a slouch hat, a tilted wide-brimmed hat popular at the time.


A Roanoke photo studio sold pictures of Smith hanging from the rope as a souvenir. It was the eighth known lynching in southwest Virginia that year.


The region had always been a dangerous place to be black. But it had never occurred to Harriett that some far-off circus promoter would steal her boys, turn them into sideshow freaks, and, for decades, earn untold riches by enslaving them to his cause.


But by the end of that swelteringly hot day, Harriett later told people, she had felt it in her marrow — something had happened, and something was wrong. A white man in a carriage had been spotted roaming the area, she heard, and now George and Willie were gone.


In a dusty corner of Virginia’s Piedmont, in a place named Truevine — where the only thing that gave Jim Crow–era blacks any semblance of hope at all was the biblical promise of a better life in the hereafter — Harriett Muse knew it for a fact. She’d already been robbed of dignified work, of monetary pay, of basic human rights, all because of the color of her skin.


Now someone had come along and taken the only thing she had left: her children.


For more than a century, that was the story Willie Muse and his relatives told. Their descendants had heard it, all of them, since the age of comprehension, then handed it down themselves, the way families do, stamping the memory with a kind of shared notarization. The story was practically seared into the Muse family DNA.


And, although it wasn’t entirely accurate, not to the letter, the spirit of it certainly was.


The truth was actually far more surprising and, as it usually is, far more tangled.




PART ONE
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Sit Down and Shut Up


The story seemed so crazy, many didn’t believe it at first, black or white.


But for a century, it was whispered and handed down in the segregated black communities of Roanoke, the regional city hub about thirty miles from Truevine. Worried parents would tell their children to stick together when they left home to see a circus, festival, or fair.


A retired African-American school principal recalls, at age twelve, begging his mother to let him pick up odd jobs when a traveling circus visited town.


“They were hiring people to set up, but my mom said no. She was really serious about it,” he said.


The myth of the Muse kidnapping was so embedded in the local folklore that, long before he became a social science professor, Roanoke-born Reginald Shareef remembers thinking it was bunk when his mother said to him: “Be careful, or someone will snatch you up,” just as the Muse brothers had been.


But eventually an adult took him aside and told him that a circus promoter really had forced the brothers to become world-famous sideshow freaks, subjugating them for many years. And not only that, they had found their way back.


They were here. Now. Retired and hidden away in an attic of one of the houses on a segregated Roanoke city block, one of them living into the early aughts.


While adults relayed the story as a cautionary tale, kids teased each other about it. Nobody seemed to know for sure whether the Muses really lived in an attic — and the handed-down stories had key points of divergence — but the truth didn’t stand in the way of a good story: the brothers were the equivalent of Boo Radley. “The story had a mystery to it and a witchery in some people’s minds,” another retired educator told me. And some kids weren’t sure whether it was the circus they should be afraid of — or the Muses.


In the 1960s, Shareef grew up in the same segregated neighborhood as the Muses; his grandmother lived two blocks away. He ran around with the great-nephews of the Muse brothers. “They were a nice family, but the men were always getting into something,” he recalled. “It’s a wonder the women in that family didn’t go crazy.”


In 1996, Shareef published a pictorial history of Roanoke’s black community and included a long-hidden photograph of the Muse brothers he’d found in the dusty archives of Roanoke’s Harrison Museum of African American Culture. The caption he wrote contained errors — they weren’t twins, and they weren’t exactly toddlers when they were kidnapped — but the gist was correct: “Albino twins [George and Willie Muse] were stolen at age three and featured as ‘freaks’ for many years in the Ringling Brothers Circus.”


A Muse relative saw the photo in the book and called Shareef on the phone, asking, “Where’d you get that picture?”


The family didn’t like to talk about what had happened to their uncles; they’d all been taunted about it as kids.


“Your uncles eat raw meat!” classmates shouted at them on the playground. Or worse, curiosity seekers, blacks and whites, would show up on their front porch at all hours of the day and night, demanding to see George and Willie. Another albino relative, a niece, described that double curse of differentness rearing back on her. For years, she had a hard time leaving her house to go to the store.


Not long after Shareef’s book came out, the Muse brothers’ great-niece Nancy Saunders went to the owner of that image, Frank Ewald, who ran Roanoke’s premier photo-finishing shop and gallery. A photo collector, Ewald had purchased the negatives of celebrated Roanoke street photographer George Davis, who’d taken the 1927 portrait of the brothers featured in Shareef’s book. Ewald was in the process of launching a Davis photo exhibit when Nancy visited the gallery and politely said: take George and Willie out.


“She wasn’t combative or threatening,” Ewald recalled. “She just asked us not to exhibit them.”


He didn’t dare.


The first time painter and folk-art collector Brian Sieveking heard the story, he was an eight-year-old budding artist fascinated by circus sideshows. He’d seen the Muses’ picture at the Circus World Museum, in Baraboo, Wisconsin, the original home of the Ringling Brothers Circus, and began drawing them in his sketchbooks next to other acts that struck his fancy, including Johnny Eck, the Amazing Half-Boy, and Chang and Eng, the original Siamese twins. “I got curious about the Muse brothers because you could easily understand the fat lady and the tall guy, but what exactly did these guys do?” recalled Sieveking, who is white and now a forty-nine-year-old art professor.


The summer he was twelve, his family moved from Cincinnati to a high-end subdivision outside Roanoke and enrolled him in a private school. He was lonely and bored, and took solace in a stack of decommissioned books for sale in a back room of the downtown library. There he stumbled upon a book called You and Heredity, a quasi-scientific tome on genetics published in 1939. Proponents of the eugenics movement often used sideshows as propaganda about the dangers of miscegenation and of allowing the lower classes, especially those with genetic “flaws” — and most especially African Americans with such characteristics — to breed.


In a chapter titled “Structural Defects,” Sieveking was stunned to find a photograph of an unnamed George and Willie Muse with a caption describing Roanoke as their hometown. His new town!


The hobby turned into obsession. A few summers later, he was working as a grocery-store checkout clerk when the subject of the brothers came up in the break room. His coworkers were among the very few black people the teenaged Sieveking knew in Roanoke, which was, then and now, among the most housing-segregated cities in the South. They told him the Muse family lived “over in Rugby,” a black neighborhood, where Willie Muse was approaching one hundred and still very much alive.


Sieveking sent word that he’d like to interview Willie, as he had done, once, with Johnny Eck. He wanted to know more about the brothers’ careers, and he’d become particularly interested in the 1944 Hartford circus fire, one of the most devastating in American history (it killed 168 people). He would go on to paint a beautiful, haunting portrait of the fire — with the Muse brothers front and center. But he didn’t get that interview.


“I wanted to ask Willie Muse about the fire,” Sieveking recalled. “But I was told in no uncertain terms not to mess with Nancy,” his primary caregiver.


As a young journalist who’d arrived in Roanoke in 1989 to write feature stories for the Roanoke Times, I took two years to muster the nerve to mess with Nancy. A newspaper photographer had told me the bones of the kidnapping story, based on rumors he’d heard growing up in Roanoke. “It’s the best story in town, but no one has been able to get it,” he said.


By the time I poked my head into her tiny soul-food restaurant, with the idea of writing a story about her famous great-uncles, it was very clear that all personal details were going to be closely held, trickling out in dribs and drabs — and very much on Nancy Saunders’s timeline. The first time I asked if I could interview Willie Muse, she pointed to a homemade sign on the Goody Shop wall. A customer had stenciled the words in black block letters on a white painted board and given it to her as a gift.


The sign said SIT DOWN AND SHUT UP.


Willie was not now — nor would he ever be — available for comment. So, hoping to generate some goodwill for a future story on her uncles, I wrote a feature about her restaurant, a place where the menu never changes and isn’t even written down. You’re just supposed to know.


Legions of black Roanokers could already recite the daily specials I would eventually commit to memory: Tuesday is spaghetti or lasagna, except every other Tuesday, which is pork chops. Wednesday is fish, and Thursday country-fried steak. Friday is ribs, but you’d better come early because the ribs always sell out quickly. The line out front starts forming at noon, though lunch doesn’t officially begin until 12:15 and not a minute before — and later if Nancy has to run home to check on Uncle Willie and finds him in the midst of a bad day. (His favorite special? Spaghetti Tuesday.)


For most of December, the place is closed so the Saunders women — Nancy and her mother, Dot; cousin Louise; and aunt Martha — can work on the hundreds of yeast rolls, cakes, and pies they make by advance special order for Christmas.


Among the other unwritten rules in the Goody Shop code: “Don’t criticize, especially the fruitcake,” I wrote. “When a novice Goody Shopper grimaced at the very mention of the jellied fruitstuff, Saunders snapped, ‘I beg your pardon! You’re getting ready to step on the wrong foot!’ ” She pointed, again, to her sign.


She also kept a painted rock on top of her cash register, a gift from her preschooler nephew, whom she helped raise. She was not above picking it up — presumably in semi-jest — should a customer offend her.


When I returned for lunch, two days after my story ran — Rib Fridays were my favorite — Nancy shook her finger at me, and it was clear I was not getting anything close to a pat on the back. Dot sat nearby peeling potatoes, watching The Young and the Restless and cringing at what she knew her daughter was about to say.


Nancy had been ready to send me packing the first time I walked in the restaurant and blithely inquired about her uncles, but softhearted Dot persuaded her to let me stay and do the restaurant feature. A Y&R fan in my youth, I’d bonded quickly with Dot over the characters and was helping peel potatoes in her kitchen before the episode was over, much to Nancy’s chagrin. (Victor Newman was a scoundrel, we agreed.)


“You know what your story did?” Nancy barked. “It brought out a bunch of crazy white people, that’s all!”


Paying customers, I might have added, but she was in no mood for backtalk. She walked past me without further comment. She was leaving now to feed Willie and turn him in his bed, as she often did throughout the day, leaving the Goody Shop as many as five or six times a shift.


If Nancy Saunders had her way, her great-uncles’ story would have stayed buried where she thought it belonged. The first time she heard it, she was just a child, and she found the whole tale embarrassing, and painfully raw. The year was 1961, and black and white people alike wanted to know: Were the light-skinned brothers black or white? Had they really been trapped in a cage and forced to eat raw meat?


These men deserved respect, Nancy knew. They did not deserve the gawkers who came by their house at all hours, banging on the front door.


By the time I came on the scene, no one talked about savages or circus freaks in front of Nancy, a sturdy woman with a no-frills Afro, graying at the temples, whose skin was nearly as white as the chef’s coat she wore to work. She baked bread every bit as good as her great-grandmother Harriett’s ash cakes — and she was every bit as fierce. Even Reg Shareef, who knew the family well, had never contemplated bringing the subject up with her.


“That is one exceptionally guarded family,” he told me, advising baby steps. “You have to think of them as a tribe. They fall out with each other sometimes. But if you fall out with one of them, they will come roaring back at you like an army.”


It was ten more years before Nancy warmed up enough to let me cowrite a newspaper series about her uncles, and only after Willie Muse’s death, in 2001. She didn’t reveal much, though. She invited my fellow reporter Jen McCaffery, photographer Josh Meltzer, and me inside the Muse brothers’ house exactly once.


She made reference to a family Bible that we were not permitted to view, and for years after the series ran, whenever I visited the restaurant she hinted that there was so much more to the story than we had found.


Our newspaper was the same one that had mocked her family’s version of the kidnapping story decades before. It had looked the other way when city officials decimated two historic black neighborhoods in the name of midcentury progress, via urban renewal, or, as the black community called it, Negro removal. The newspaper cheered when the city knocked down hundreds of community homes and buildings, including the Muse family’s Holiness church. It refused to print wedding announcements for black brides until the mid-1970s because, the wealthy white publisher reasoned, Roanoke had no black middle class.


I myself had used a pair of pregnant black teens to illustrate a story about Roanoke’s super-high teen-pregnancy rate in 1993, a story that went viral before that Internet term existed and made the girls the object of ridicule; even Rush Limbaugh joined in with a rant. When the girls dropped out of school shortly after my story ran, it was devastating, including to me.


Words linger and words matter, I learned, and it’s not possible to predict the fallout they can have on a subject’s life.


It would take me twenty-five years, finally, to earn something nearing Nancy’s trust; to convince her I wasn’t one more candy peddler intent on exploiting her relatives for the color of their skin — or purely for my own financial benefit. As the literary critic Leslie Fiedler has put it, “Nobody can write about Freaks without somehow exploiting them for his own ends.”


George and Willie Muse had come into her care in the 1960s, a situation Nancy considered her privilege as well as her duty, and her loyalty to them extended to everything from coordinating their retirement activities and doctor visits — restoring the love, respect, and dignity that had been stolen from them as children — to holding their story close.


By 2008, she had begun, in her inimitably gruff (and usually funny and occasionally even sweet) way, to warm toward me. When I set out to write a ten-part series on caregiving for the elderly, Nancy was the first person I called for input.


“You gotta keep it real,” she said, sharing names and numbers of people who would eventually become primary sources for that project. She periodically counseled me about other career and family stresses, advising me, “You can handle this. Listen, girl, if you can get back into Dot’s kitchen, you can do anything.”


When I hit a snag updating the story of the pregnant teens more than twenty years after my explosive first story, it seemed fate that Shannon Huff, now a thirty-seven-year-old mother of four, lived just around the corner from Nancy’s northwest Roanoke ranch house. After some angry relatives tried to bully me into not running the story — physically threatening me and demanding a meeting with my newspaper bosses — Nancy reassured me, “You don’t need their permission to do the story, just like you don’t really need mine to write your book. Not really, you don’t.”


And yet, months earlier, Nancy’s permission is exactly what I sought. On the eve of publishing my first book, about a third-generation factory owner who had battled Chinese imports to save his company, I had given her an advance reading copy of Factory Man, dog-earing a chapter on race relations I’d found particularly hard to write. It detailed decades of mistreatment of black furniture-factory workers, miscegenation, and the sexual harassment of black domestic workers, who often resorted to wearing two girdles at the same time as a defense against their bosses’ groping hands and outright rape.


“It’s been that way down through history,” Nancy said. “A friend of my mom’s, she’d be vacuuming down the steps [on a housekeeping job], and the husband would be feeling her up from behind. My mom had to fill in for her one day. And so she told the man first thing, ‘Don’t make me open up your chest!’ ”


By which Dot Brown meant: with the tip of my knife.


Nancy and I had come a long way from the days of sit-down-and-shut-up.


Still, it was by no means a gimme when I called her in November 2013, asking for her blessing to pursue her uncles’ story as a book. She was in her midsixties and recently retired, after closing the Goody Shop. I wanted her help delving into the family story as well as connecting with distant Muse relatives, including one albino Muse still living in Truevine.


“I’ll think about it,” Nancy said, and the message was clear: I was not to call back. She would call me.


More than six weeks later — oh, she enjoyed making me wait — she finally called. “I waited so I could give it to you as a present,” she said.


It was Christmas morning, and Nancy had decided to let me write her uncles’ story with her help and blessing. But on one condition: “No matter what you find out or what your research turns up, you have to remember: in the end, they came out on top.”


I knew the story’s ending, I assured her. I’d already interviewed several people — nurses and doctors, neighbors and lawyers — all of whom described the late-life care she’d given her uncles as impeccable and extraordinary.


I was less certain about who had forced them into servitude in the first place, about their struggle to have their humanity acknowledged and their work compensated. How exactly, during the harsh years of Jim Crow, had they managed to escape?




2


White Peoples Is Hateful


Driving into Truevine today, you still see hints of the hopelessness that hung over the tiny enclave a century before. Chestnut Mountain stands sentinel to the west, and farm plots give way to sagging trailers and tidy brick ranch houses. Joe-pye and pokeweeds wave along the roadside, and sagging tobacco-curing barns — most of the logs hand-chinked by Franklin County slaves and their descendants — are not Cracker Barrel postcard throwbacks: they’re a decaying nod to the cash crop that has long driven the economy of the region, most of it farmed on the backs of minority labor.


But year after year, the past grows fainter. Another barn crumbles. A CLOSED sign hangs askew on the door of an antiques shop that was once a thriving country store. There, sharecroppers who plowed for their supper and pulled tobacco for their shelter used to buy hundred-pound sacks of pinto beans to last their families the winter long. The largest structure for miles in Truevine was a brick school built for black children in the 1940s. Closed shortly after integration, it was reopened by a small textile factory that operated for a few decades before it, too, shut down, in the wake of the North American Free Trade Agreement.


From slavery to segregation, from integration to globalization — the economic history of the American South intersects in this isolated, unincorporated crossroads. Truevine is a speck of land where slaves and their descendants became sharecroppers, then sewing-machine operators, then unemployed workers before, finally — those who could afford to, anyway — they fled.


Truevine and neighboring Sontag, Penhook, and Snow Creek: these close-knit Franklin County enclaves are memories now more than working communities, places where farmers once grew millions of pounds of the highest-grade cigarette tobacco in Virginia’s so-called Old Belt. A few large tobacco operations are still in business, though tractors and giant metal curing barns have replaced the log structures and mules.


“We’ve always grown the kind of tobacco that is the worst for you,” says Penhook farmer Johnny Angell, who cultivates eighty-five acres of flue-cured tobacco with the help of a dozen or so Mexican guest workers who spend ten months every year doing the work the black sharecroppers used to do. Angell credits his tobacco’s richer taste to rolling topography and weather, especially cool Franklin County mornings drenched in big, foggy dews. With wide, leathery golden leaves, the region’s “bright leaf” tobacco is distinguished by its thick tar content, such that a worker pulling leaves off stalks will find his hands black and sticky by the end of the day.


This isolated cluster of tobacco communities has always stood apart from its larger counterparts a few counties to the south — not just for its tar-laden tobacco, but also for the character of the people who grow it. For their moonshine and music, for their nineteenth-century dialect quirks that still linger on the tongue. Truevine is a place where children are still called chaps, and the word only is pronounced “onliest,” as in Till the factories came, ’cropping was the onliest way we had to make money for our chaps.


When one neighbor offers another a good deed — a driveway plowed, a bag of homegrown tomatoes dropped off on a porch — thanks is still offered in the language of Isaiah and Moses: God bless you a double portion.


To understand the world the Muse brothers came from, I talked to African Americans who have stayed in and around Truevine, some out of commitment to the home they love and others because they have no viable alternative. All had the Muse name tucked somewhere in their family tree, though those trees are marked by holes and missing limbs. In a culture where census takers didn’t bother recording the names of slaves, the first black Muses to enter the public record are noted only as property, documented by gender, age, and dollar value.


Most of the people you talk to in Truevine have no idea where their slave ancestors actually toiled, though it was likely nearby. Slavery in the American South, as Harvard sociologist Orlando Patterson has written, decimated the black family unit of the 1800s, and it still plays a lingering role in black poverty and the relatively large numbers of families headed by single mothers today.


As retired Franklin County library genealogist Diane Hayes, who is African American, explained it, “Slavery was so painful that black families, like Holocaust victims, didn’t talk about what happened for a long time. Lots of times the families would be split up so badly, sold off when their owners died or given away as gifts when someone in the [white] family got married, that people don’t know” the names of their ancestors.


Before the publication of Alex Haley’s Roots, in 1976, slavery remained such a taboo subject among blacks that when mid-century museum workers at Colonial Williamsburg tried to introduce a recording about slavery into an early interpretive program, the tape was repeatedly sabotaged — by the black maintenance staff.


Even then it was still too raw, still too soon.


The stories flow more easily now, about brutal work conditions that didn’t vary much from the time of emancipation to the American civil rights movement. Without fail, from the wealthiest black entrepreneur to the retiree getting by on food stamps, the opportunity afforded Franklin County blacks throughout the first half of the twentieth century echoed Booker T. Washington’s sentiment from 1865: “To get into a schoolhouse and study this way would be about the same as getting into paradise.”


Most children of sharecroppers didn’t go to school during harvest, a period extending from August to December; they were too busy wiring tobacco leaves onto sticks, hanging them from rafters to dry. When their stomachs began to rumble, they were told to chew a leaf or two — as an appetite suppressant.


“In the fall, you only went to school when it rained or snowed,” said Janet Johnson, seventy-one, who’d been among the last generation in her family to work tobacco. She recalled dropping out of Truevine School in the sixth grade when she got tired of watching the white farmer’s children go to school while she and her siblings stayed home and worked the crop. Her mother, ninety-eight-year-old Mabel Pullen, hadn’t gone to school at all. Mabel didn’t learn to read until she was in her seventies, when she took a few night classes run by the county’s adult education program. Her husband, Charles, never did.


The Pullens live in Sontag, not far from Truevine, in a tar-papered bungalow, heated by wood and supplemented by a pungent kerosene space heater. Mabel was ninety-seven when we first met in 2013, hard of hearing but still sharp. I had met her daughter quite by chance while working on a newspaper article about proposed cuts to the federal food-stamp program. Janet, who retired when the furniture factory where she worked into her early sixties closed, was picking up a box of food from a nearby food pantry to share with her parents.


Charles and Mabel qualified for food stamps but refused to apply because, as Janet put it, “You talk about pride!”


To supplement their Social Security benefits, the extended family raised chickens, canned apples and tomatoes, and shared a plot of mustard greens — their salad patch, they call it — in the yard between their cluster of modest trailers and homes.


By the time I returned to ask about sharecropping in Franklin County, it was almost a year later. Janet agreed to introduce me to people from Truevine, including some Muses who still lived in the area. She was descended from people, I later pieced together, who crossed paths with Harriett Muse’s husband, Cabell Muse.


As a child, she’d heard that the circus had kidnapped the brothers right from under their mother’s nose, but details were scant. She’d thought about them often over the years, with pity for their trauma but with a touch of longing, too.


Only in a place like Truevine, she thought, could the notion of being kidnapped seem almost like an opportunity.


“It’s hard talking to you about this,” Janet said, abruptly, during a follow-up interview.


Our earlier talks had been fluid and friendly. A year before, Janet had asked me to help her and a sister track the family’s genealogy back to slavery, looking up forebears on my Ancestry.com account. When I hit a dead end, I introduced her to a researcher friend, who also couldn’t overcome the record-keeping gaps.


But during this interview, our fourth, Janet was hesitant to open up. It wasn’t just the difference in our skin tones. It seemed to be my education and my presumed life of ease. It was every white kid who’d ever spit on her from a school-bus window while she trudged the four miles by foot to the one-room school. It was the still-vivid memory of a slave in Truevine, passed down through the generations at Truevine School: he was standing naked atop a tree stump with pork grease slathered on his muscles — so he’d show better, so he’d bring a better price — and his family never saw him again.


“White peoples is hateful,” Janet said, finally. “And I like you, I do. But it’s hard for people to understand, my grandkids even . . . to know how hard it was when me and Mama was coming up. That white peoples treated us like dirt.”


It was Mabel’s ninety-eighth birthday. She stared out the window, and she didn’t seem to be following our conversation, until suddenly she jumped in:


“They would feed you outdoors,” she said, her voice reedy and resonant.


She was speaking about the farmers she ’cropped for from the 1920s through the ’60s, and her parents before that. “They had a little table under the tree by the big house, and when it was lunchtime they’d raise up the kitchen window and hand you out the food — like you a dog or something. Then you’d eat at that table.”


“They said they didn’t like ‘niggers in the house,’ ” Janet explained. “That was the rule.”


That was the kind of world George and Willie Muse were born into in the 1890s, when the only hope the son or a grandson of slaves had — somehow, some way — was to buy a piece of land. Cabell and Harriett Muse had been reared during Reconstruction, a time when former slave owners had adopted sharecropping as a system for retaining control over almost four million ex-slaves, most of whom had no means of sustaining their families — or of leaving the land where they’d once been bound. With a cash-poor farm economy dominating the South, cotton and tobacco crops became the main sources of credit, and black families rented small plots of land in return for a portion of the crop.


But whites determined how blacks should be paid, how much they should work, and how many members of their family would do the work. The ’croppers weren’t compensated until the tobacco was sold, at which point they generally got one-quarter to one-half of the money the farmer received. Half-shares, people called it.


But that was if the farmer was honest about how much the crop brought. And if the ’cropper hadn’t taken out too many liens against his wages from the farmer or the store. Interest rates on loans and cash advances typically ranged from 21 to 53 percent, and often the ’cropper earned nothing at all on “settling-day” once he paid back his debt, ensuring he’d have no choice but to return to that farm another season — and sink even deeper into debt.


Like the Muses, the Pullens lived in shoddy tenant cabins along the perimeter of the farmer’s land. “There were holes in the walls and the roof, too,” Janet said. “That farmer was such a mean man. He’d carry that tobacco and sell it in Danville, but we never did get to go,” she recalled of the warehouse where the crop was auctioned every fall. “He’d [show] you what it brought, but Daddy never could read any of it.”


So it went across the South, where only a fool would question the landlord’s math. “If you raised the slightest question, you ran the risk of being forced off the land,” explained Berea College historian Andrew Baskin, who has researched slavery and its aftermath in Franklin County. “Everything was in the hands of the whites who owned the land.”


Most rural blacks didn’t challenge the system. Alabama sharecropper Ned Cobb explained why in Theodore Rosengarten’s landmark 1974 exposé, All God’s Dangers. When Cobb’s neighbor Henry Kirkland questioned his landlord’s accounting, he “flew in a passion — he toted his pistol all the time — . . . over that book business and throwed that pistol on old Uncle Henry and deadened him right there.” He shot the man’s son, too.


Nelson Whitten, the Freedmen’s Bureau Records official sent to Franklin County in 1867 to “provide for more efficient government of the Rebel States,” wrote to his boss in Washington, D.C.: “I find an inclination on the part of the whites, though not universal, to override and take advantage of the freedmen whether they are working for a share of the crops, or for wages.”


The entwinement of former slaves with land and white landowners continued after the Civil War. And, in the remotest parts of the rural South, so it persisted for another century and beyond.


Up the road from the Pullens’ and past a small field of bright-leaf tobacco, Thelma Muse Lee remembered feeling entrapped. “We ’cropped for eighteen years, till after our kids left home,” she said. “It was the onliest way we had to make money. But you could never make enough to buy any land. Because you had to give half to the farmer, then he’d take out what we owed him for fertilizer. Then in the spring we had to borrow money from him again for seed,” she said.


It was an Indian-summer day, with temps in the upper 80s. The year was 2014, but looking at the landscape behind Thelma’s house, it could have been a century before. Thelma was boiling thirty-seven and a half pounds of green beans she’d canned over the weekend, she told me proudly. She had grown the beans herself — at the age of ninety-three, managing every aspect of the garden, except the tilling, which fell to her son — and now she was sealing the jars atop an outdoor wood fire the son had started at five that morning, before he left for work.


When I asked if she was trying to keep her kitchen cool by boiling the jars outside, she and Janet shot each other a bemused look. White people.


“No, honey,” Thelma said, shaking her head. “I’m saving on electric.”


Thelma remembered hearing about the Muse kidnapping as a child. It was the same cautionary tale the blacks in Roanoke had been taught, but with a different setting. “They got stoled from a fair they used to have up here in Rocky Mount,” she said.


Thelma thought they were related to her — her maiden name was Muse, and she had albinos in her family, including a daughter who lived a few houses up Sontag Road — but she wasn’t sure exactly where George and Willie fell on her extended-family tree.


A few miles away, under the shadow of Chestnut Mountain, the Muse lineage was similarly vague. A. J. Reeves didn’t get much further in school than Janet Pullen or Thelma Lee. But he chopped the wood for the potbellied Truevine School stove, same as they did, and he, too, had Muse family blood. He figures that his grandmother Queen Victoria Muse probably descended from the same Truevine-area family as Cabell Muse.


One hundred years old at the time of our interview, Reeves was sporting a pair of new replacement knees that carried him to his backyard workshop every morning. The centenarian spends most days building and repairing clocks — mantel clocks, grandfather clocks, clocks of the sort you set on your desk. A farmer-turned-sawmiller-turned-contractor-turned-plumber, Reeves performed his last plumbing job in 2007 on a Habitat for Humanity house at the age of ninety-three. He still lends out his tools and advice to the many neighbors who stop by regularly to chat. A hand-lettered sign in his workshop that hangs from the ceiling says IN GOD WE TRUST. ALL OTHERS PAY CASH.


Asked to describe living conditions in Truevine during the era when the Muse brothers disappeared, Reeves cracked a sly half-smile, leaning back to unleash a cacophony of squeaks from his rusted office chair.


“You want the truth?” the clock maker asked, tilting his head. “Are you sure you want the truth?”


He was as serious as a copperhead in a wood stack.


His grandparents were Franklin County slaves, freed at the end of the Civil War, he told me. His grandfather Armistead Reeves even participated in it, one of 534 Franklin County slaves requisitioned by the Virginia governor to join the Confederate war effort. Armistead was sent to Richmond to cook for the troops and tend their horses in 1862.


Details of Armistead’s war experience were not recorded, but I found parallels in the records of a contemporary, Samuel Walker, born into slavery in nearby Snow Creek and married to yet another Muse. Walker described his first memory at the age of five in 1847: watching the sale of his mother to a Georgia plantation owner. He ran after the wagon that took her away, calling her name, but she never looked back.


Walker married Naomi Muse, who belonged to prominent Truevine landowner Elizabeth Muse, along with thirty other slaves — including, probably, Cabell Muse’s parents. Elizabeth Muse had threatened to sell Naomi during the war, prompting her to fret over who would care for her “chaps,” as Naomi later recalled. But the family stayed together until 1862, when Samuel was conscripted to serve as a teamster and fortification builder; he was eventually sent to the front lines shortly before Lee surrendered to Grant. The first time their names appear together in an official record is in 1870. But because they were illiterate, the census taker misspelled Naomi’s name as Onelly.


“Perhaps one of the greatest tragedies of institutional slavery in North America was that it robbed millions of African Americans — and countless Virginians — of their heritage,” wrote journalist Bill Archer, who chronicled Walker’s painstaking efforts to receive a small Civil War pension. It wasn’t approved until six decades after the war ended, in 1925. For the remaining eight years of his life, Walker’s quarterly war pension amounted to $6.25.


Walker saved the money to buy his first piece of property not by farming but by sending two of his sons off for jobs with the Roanoke-based Norfolk and Western Railway, which was expanding into the West Virginia coalfields in the 1880s to link Appalachian-mined coal to the port of Norfolk and, eventually, the Great Lakes. Using the funds they sent home, he built his first house in Franklin County, his granddaughter, Grace Roten, proudly remembered, complete with weatherboarding and “store-bought windows.”


That same quest for upward mobility prompted Cabell Muse to leave Franklin County not long after the births of George and Willie. The first time his name appears in an official record is 1900, a time when thousands of African-American men, tired of trying to earn a living off the land, wandered the countryside seeking jobs in work camps and mines scattered throughout the South. They were building levees in Arkansas, gathering turpentine in Georgia, and mining coal in West Virginia and Tennessee — making far less than their white counterparts and sometimes, if their company-store debts were large, earning nothing at all.


Cabell and scores of other young men from Truevine ventured to Rock, West Virginia, looking to earn the first cash money of their lives. They were, in the words of a prominent union organizer, “seeking a man’s chance in the world . . . looking for true American citizenship.” Most were tasked with hard labor, digging out coal, hammering metal into spikes, and building track to carry the coal using pickaxes, shovels, tie tongs, and mallets.


In a posed photo from the Norfolk and Western archives, fourteen black men (and one white laborer) clutch shovels while four white bosses loom large in the foreground, one with his hand on hip and another leaning authoritatively on his leg, his foot perched atop a handcar. Rocks litter the sifted dirt, which gives way to scrubby grass, crooked electricity poles, and mountains rising from both sides of the tracks in a wide V.


It was rough work performed largely by rough people, black and white. In 1904 in nearby Williamson, West Virginia, two drunken vagabonds who were caught wandering the work camp at night shot and killed a policeman and a railway telegraph operator. The officer was shot for refusing to drink the tramps’ whiskey, and the night operator was shot when he tried to intervene.


Blacks lived in segregated communal housing, and as with the Mexican immigrants who would one day replace their kin in the tobacco fields, their families relied on them to send money home. Only the luckiest black workers like A. J. Reeves’s father managed to learn blacksmithing, a physically easier skilled trade that brought better pay.


Masterless men, they were called, as the presence of tens of thousands of black men in work camps across the South instilled fear in whites, who saw them as job competition and free agents, no longer attached to the land or beholden to landlords.


As sociologist W. E. B. Du Bois framed the situation, emancipation had transmogrified into a “race feud” in the southern states. “Not a single Southern legislature stood ready to admit a Negro under any conditions, to the polls; not a single Southern legislature believed free Negro labor was possible without a system of restrictions that took all its freedoms away; there was scarcely a white man in the South who did not honestly regard Emancipation as a crime, and its practical nullification as a duty.”


Back in Franklin County, more than a dozen tobacco factories fashioned cigarettes and plug tobacco, but blacks typically weren’t permitted to apply for factory jobs. Imprinted in the minds of most white southerners was the notion that black people lacked the necessary intelligence to operate machinery. They dismissed their dialects, mannerisms, and supposedly narrow skills, viewing them as inferior in every way.


But A. J. Reeves’s father returned from his West Virginia blacksmithing stint with an entrepreneurial work-around of that mind-set: “My daddy came back and bought a hundred and fifty acres of this land before I was born, for five hundred dollars,” Reeves recalled, gesturing to the property that abuts his church and the original wood-frame Truevine School (now the site of a church picnic shelter). “He was a farmer, but he also had his own blacksmithing shop right down the road. He never worked for anybody but himself, and he taught me that. Because you saw the way the ’croppers were treated. Even if they treat ya good — and most didn’t — they’re still taking part of your labor because you’re working one day for yourself and one day for them. I want to work every day for myself.”


It was simple math, as commonsense as the minute hands and moon dials marking time along the perimeter of his workshop walls.


Cabell Muse wanted to work for himself, too. He traded blisters from the tobacco hoe for blisters from shoveling rocks and dirt. But, unlike Robert Reeves, he did not come home to Truevine with a pocketful of cash.


By the time he came back to Virginia, George and Willie had not returned home, and their mother was panic-stricken. The police hadn’t lifted a finger to help her find them, and a children’s-rights agency in Virginia had mounted only a brief, halfhearted search.


She probably imagined the worst. Just an hour east of Roanoke, in Lynchburg, Virginia, news was reverberating of Ota Benga, whose story would become the low point of scholars’ search to find the “missing link” bridging human and ape. Hailed as a “pygmy” who’d been “liberated” from the Congo by an American missionary, Benga was first displayed at the 1904 World’s Fair in St. Louis alongside Eskimos, Filipinos, and Native Americans. In an exhibit that was two parts Barnum and one part pseudo-science, they’d been forced to wear loincloths in the cold winter wind.


In 1906, Benga — his real name was Toa Benga — came to live in a guest cottage at the Bronx Zoo, where he was caged with an orangutan. The zoo director had the idea to display the pair together, with a sign on their cage that read: THE AFRICAN PIGMY, OTA BENGA. AGE, 23 YEARS. HEIGHT, 4 FEET 11 INCHES. WEIGHT, 103 POUNDS. . . . EXHIBITED EACH AFTERNOON DURING SEPTEMBER.


The exhibit drew forty thousand visitors on a single Sunday. But a scandal flared up almost immediately, led by indignant black clergymen who prevailed on zookeepers to release Benga to an orphanage. “Our race, we think, is depressed enough, without exhibiting one of us with the apes,” the Reverend James H. Gordon said. “We think we are worthy of being considered human beings, with souls.”


But a New York Times writer opined otherwise, in an editorial that perfectly captured the white-supremacy zeitgeist of the day: “As for Benga himself, he is probably enjoying himself as well as he could anywhere in his country, and it is absurd to make moan over the imagined humiliation and degradation he is suffering.”


Eventually he did land at a black-run Baptist seminary in Lynchburg. Though he was happier there than anywhere else he’d been in America — he’d come under the tutelage of Harlem Renaissance poet and Lynchburg resident Anne Spencer, and through Spencer he met both Du Bois and Booker T. Washington — Ota Benga was taunted every time he went out in public. As he walked through Cottontown, a white working-class section of Lynchburg, boys cursed him and threw rocks.


“Why they do that?” he wanted to know.


In 1916, he shot himself in the heart next to a campfire he’d built for himself in the woods. “I guess he decided these are Christians and, with Christianity, you have a soul. And he thought he’d shoot himself, and his soul would go back to Africa,” said Spencer’s son, Chauncey, in a 1993 interview.


A distraught Harriett tried to make up for the loss of George and Willie by birthing three more children in three short years — Tom and Annie Belle, and Harrison, who had the same white-blond hair, milky skin, and watery eyes as the older brothers.


Relatives recalled that she took her brood to church every time the doors opened. She asked neighbors and fellow parishioners to alert her when they heard of a traveling carnival or circus playing in the Rocky Mount or, more likely, in the closest cities of Roanoke or Martinsville.


But Roanoke was almost forty miles to the north, and Martinsville was almost that far to the south. As Booker T. Washington had put it, Franklin County was extremely isolated, “about as near to nowhere as any locality gets to be.”


Harriett kept her other children close, especially Harrison. The boy was a blessing and a constant reminder to his mother, who swore that she would find George and Willie one day — or risk her life trying.
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And Still the Cry Against Us Continues


When Harriett landed in Roanoke, by about 1917, she was following a well-worn migration pattern. She was looking for information on her sons, of course. But she was also looking for opportunity, just like the more than four thousand other African-American migrants who’d flocked to the so-called Magic City in its earliest years, making the nascent boomtown the fastest-growing city in the post–Civil War South.


In 1882, a group of ambitious tobacco merchants and entrepreneurs had persuaded the Philadelphia-based Norfolk and Western Railway to launch a terminus, machine shop, and corporate hub in a Virginia outpost named Big Lick. To sweeten the deal, they offered the Philly industrialists rights-of-way, cash bonuses, and tax exclusions. The N&W provided cheap access to iron and coal lodged in the mountains, which in turn spawned industrialization of the region as investors raced to set up mines, furnaces, and mills along the winding tracks.


As an additional incentive, the town fathers even offered to change the name of the town from Big Lick, with its hillbilly salt-lick implications, to Kimball, in honor of the railroad president. When Kimball demurred, they switched it instead to Roanoke, a Native American word that translated loosely — and fittingly — to money.


Nearly a third of the city’s early residents were black, former sharecroppers and sons of former slaves who made their way to Roanoke by wagon and by train to work as Pullman porters, janitors, and manual-labor assistants to the machinists and railroad brakemen.


Some of the men sold illegal liquor on the side, and their wives cleaned white people’s houses, and, all in all, it was still a hell of a hard time to be black because the white establishment told African Americans where to eat and where to live and where to sit in public spaces.


But it beat sharecropping.


“Had an old Virginian fallen asleep in ‘Big Lick’ last year to wake up to Roanoke today, he would have been as much bewildered as Rip Van Winkle was when he awoke in the Kaatskills,” gushed a writer in The Industrial South, a weekly newspaper. A New York Times reporter enthused that Roanoke’s fledgling businesses were now poised to exploit the state’s coal deposits with the goal of returning Virginia “to something like its old position in the Union.”


There were growing pains galore, including a relentless spate of typhoid that people called Big Lick fever. A bawdy, thriving saloon and brothel scene clashed with the boosters’ view of Roanoke as a shiny symbol of the so-called New South.


In a town dominated by single working-class men, there were more saloons than any other kind of business in Roanoke’s downtown, not counting all the illegal speakeasies, called nip joints. At night, “with the red-light beacons of the bar rooms all ablaze over the plank sidewalks, and the music of the violin and banjo coming through the open doors and windows, the town suggests a mining camp or a mushroom city of Colorado,” a Baltimore Sun reporter wrote.


Built atop a bog, Roanoke grew faster than its public sanitation system could handle, with a death rate in its early years that was higher than New York City’s. Early residents threw down stepping-stones in front of themselves to avoid losing their shoes in the mud.


There were no public gardens, parks, or libraries, no public squares or tree-lined avenues. By 1907, Roanoke had transformed from a village of five hundred people to a city of thirty-five thousand without much concern for aesthetics or the greater civic good.


As renowned urban planner John Nolen quipped, the place had simply gone “from Big Lick to Bigger Lick.”


The city was as divided as the railroad tracks that separated black from white. Most new arrivals were farmers from the countryside who let their cows and chickens roam free into their neighbors’ lots, and they were looked down on by the city’s burgeoning business class. When a couple from rural Franklin County rode downtown in their beat-up wagon, they startled at the sight of a passing bicyclist, then jumped again at the sound of a fire alarm being tested, one reporter noted. Bystanders burst into laughter at their “hayseed” ways until finally the couple fled, embarrassed and confused.


Blacks were even bigger targets for ridicule, turning out in such numbers at a fair “as to threaten a watermelon famine” and singled out for press coverage only when accused of crimes. Whites even blamed the periodic smallpox waves on “the Negroes” and once torched the homes of infected blacks.


If Franklin County had been a tough place to be black, at least the tensions there had been spread out over a half-million acres of hills and hollows. Here, blacks and whites competed for jobs. While they lived and worked in very different social strata, they also brushed against one another with regularity on streetcars, in stores, and, for those employed as domestic workers or chauffeurs, in the homes of the wealthy.


“Roanoke was incredibly hostile to African Americans,” said Rand Dotson, an author and historian who chronicled Roanoke’s earliest years in a 2007 book. “There was a level of hostility that most people today can barely comprehend,” from segregated public accommodations and segregated housing ordinances to outright violence on many occasions.


“Whites were scared of blacks and despised them. They thought they weren’t really people. And yet they hired them to work in their homes, cook their food, and do their laundry, which was just bizarre.”


The relationship was as oddly intimate as it was degrading.


For the rest of their working lives, that is exactly how the Muses paid their rent and fed their children: Harriett working as an in-home maid and picking up laundry jobs on the side, and Cabell driving white men and women around — first in a wagon, later in a car. (In what must have been a disappointing entrée into Roanoke work life, before becoming a chauffeur, Cabell spent part of 1917 doing the same kind of manual labor he’d done on the railroad — digging trenches, fixing leaks, and laying water pipelines for the Roanoke Water Company.)


Harriett and Cabell weren’t allowed to vote because they couldn’t read, nor could they afford to pay poll taxes, requirements written into the 1902 Virginia Constitution, which replaced the old Reconstruction-era Underwood Constitution forced on it in the aftermath of the Civil War.


“Discrimination! Why, that is exactly what we propose,” boasted constitution delegate and future senator Carter Glass when asked whether the new voting restrictions were discriminatory.


The goal, Glass explained, had been the “the elimination of every Negro who can be gotten rid of, legally, without materially impairing the strength of the white electorate.”


To celebrate the new constitution and the complementary Jim Crow laws that banned the mixing of races in public places, restrooms, trains, and water fountains, municipalities across Virginia planted oak saplings in courthouse squares.


It didn’t matter who you were, if you were black; just strolling into the wrong Roanoke block could land you in jail — or worse, depending on what was going on at the time. In 1904, a white shop worker named George Shields went home for lunch and found his wife and three-year-old daughter lying in pools of blood, victims of a robbery and assault. His wife, Alice, survived the attack — barely — to describe her perpetrator as a black man.


A manhunt sprang up, and no black male in the city was spared suspicion. The entire race was blamed as hundreds of whites took to the streets and demanded vigilante justice. Newspaper writers used the crime to justify holding down African Americans, blaming the crime on “the black menace” and “the beast in the Negro.”


Four days after the attack, rumors circulated that a black civic leader and minister, the Reverend R. R. Jones, had given a Sunday sermon suggesting that George Shields himself had committed the assault. A mob of a thousand whites went looking for Jones, storming through black neighborhoods and shooting up Jones’s home, tearing down fence pickets, and blasting pistol shots into the sky. Jones denied making the remarks, but whites still papered the city with placards, vowing he’d be lynched if he failed to leave town by nightfall.


Born into slavery, Jones, a Roanoke preacher for thirty years, walked seven miles through the woods to secretly catch a train heading north — never to return. The black-owned Richmond Planet advised him that he should only dare to do so once he’d made his own funeral arrangements, bought a shotgun, and killed a few of the “white hoodlums” who were sure to show up at his house.


When a “Negro roustabout” in nearby Salem was accused of making a “dastardly statement” about the case, a mob hauled him away and stripped him, tying him to a telephone pole and whipping him with electric wires. When he screamed, they stuffed handkerchiefs in his mouth.


Several other black men were run out of town, and some were fired from much-coveted railroad jobs. A black woman was spared only when she went into “spasms” after a mob threatened to flog her, too.


Two weeks later, a black drifter named Henry Williams was captured in the West Virginia coalfields by the Baldwin-Felts Detective Agency, the railroad’s crime-busting arm, and confessed. Following a short trial that historians would later deem a sham, a judge ordered him hung until he was “dead, dead, dead.”


No apologies were issued to the scores of black citizens who’d been wrongfully accused of harboring the offender or challenging the narrative of the blood-hungry mob. The Shields case cemented racist sentiments in the region, paving the way for segregation ordinances, more violence, and lingering tensions in a city demographers still consider among the most segregated in the South.


The courthouse oaks grew taller and leafier. And across Virginia, blacks lived under a canopy of subjugation. In 1915, Roanoke officials passed a city ordinance forbidding blacks and whites from living on the same block and carved out five segregation districts, saying the presence of a black person living on the same block as whites “offends the general sense of community,” increases tensions, and decreases property values.


Most blacks in Roanoke were too afraid to speak up, but the editor of the Richmond Planet cataloged the indignities: “We have been denied the right to vote, the right to hold office, the right to live on the same block with the white man, the right to ride in the same railway car, the right to occupy a seat in a street car beside a white man, the right to worship in the same church, the right to drink at the same bar, the right to be buried in the same cemetery — and still the cry against us continues.”


In response, the Roanoke Times — the newspaper that had once opined, “Lynching has its place” — devoted most of a page to an open letter titled “The Negro Question.” It claimed black crime was endangering “the future of our beautiful southern land.” The solution, the editorial writer proposed, would be the formation of a white man’s league that would exert a repressive influence on the “lawless negroes.”


By the mid-1920s, Ku Klux Klan membership had surged to five million members, with chapters from California to Maine, including a thriving Klan in Roanoke, named after Robert E. Lee. With the government’s permission, a national parade of Klansmen marched down Pennsylvania Avenue in the nation’s capital in 1925 and past the White House, then occupied by Calvin Coolidge, to express superiority over not just blacks but also Jews, immigrants, Catholics, and radicals.


The entire country was obsessed with the notion of separating people into greater and lesser breeds.


But city life, as racially charged as it was, still held the potential of progress as Cabell and Harriett Muse moved to Roanoke, drawn by the same desires that motivated most other blacks from the countryside: with the prayer that Cabell would land a coveted job on the N&W. As a popular blues lyric went, When you marry, marry a railroad man / Every Sunday, dollar in your hand.


“Everybody was leaving the country, coming to town, like they thought they were gonna be picking up money off the streets,” recalled A. L. Holland, ninety-eight, a onetime railroad janitor and civil rights leader who broke barriers in the 1960s when he finally got to use his college degree in an office job. In 1898, his father, Gus Holland, had migrated from a tobacco farm in Chatham, near Truevine, to work as a railroad blacksmith, a relatively plum job he landed only because of his experience shoeing horses on the farm.


“He never bought an automobile, but we never did live in a rented house,” his son proudly recalled. “He knew owning property was more important, so he walked to work every day.”


By the time Cabell and Harriett Muse first show up together in Roanoke records, in the 1910s, Cabell was finished “doggin’ the rails,” as the backbreaking work of building railroad track was called. In West Virginia, he had resented the way the company required African Americans to purchase platefuls of corn bread and beans while white workers and supervisors received balanced meals. In West Virginia, black workers on assignment had to bring their own spoons, a typical Jim Crow humiliation, and racial tension in the camps was high. A black track worker on assignment in the coalfields recalled whites posting a sign: BLACKS READ AND RUN. IF YOU CANNOT READ, RUN ANY DAMNED WAY.


So no one blamed Cabell when he landed easier, slightly more dignified work as a chauffeur, a job with more independence and a higher status, while Harriett labored as a domestic worker and laundress. They lived in a black enclave near the N&W rail yard, a cluster of shacks and shotgun shanties near the city’s West End that old-timers still refer to as Jordan’s (or Jerden’s) Alley.


They were just a few blocks away from the Victorian mansions owned by the likes of the Roanoke Times publisher and those Philadelphia-bred railway executives, close enough so Harriett and her neighbors could walk to their back doors, pick up the laundry, and carry it back home to scrub by hand.


The Muse home at 19 Ten-and-a-Half Street was set on an alleyway, more or less, a red-dirt road with an alley on one end and a sooty rail yard on the other. Engines were maintained at the yard’s roundhouse, so a near-constant cacophony of steaming locomotives, blowing whistles, and train-car clatter hovered over the neighborhood. Cinders belched from the engines, enough to make a resident’s eyes water at times. With six houses crammed together on the Muses’ side, and four across the street, the entire road was just a half-block long.


Most born in the neighborhood lived quiet lives, more modest than the blacks who lived closer to downtown in Gainsboro, home to a thriving Henry Street business district. An aspirational middle class was forming there around a growing number of doctors’ and lawyers’ offices, several black-owned businesses, and a hotel/nightclub scene that brought in such rising stars as Louis Armstrong, Ella Fitzgerald, and Cab Calloway. The musicians played epic, late-night sessions in the black-owned Dumas Hotel after performing for crowds at the whites-only Hotel Roanoke owned by the railroad.


But having status in Gainsboro didn’t much matter when Dr. I. D. Burrell, a black physician and druggist, became deathly ill in 1914. He’d been working toward starting a black hospital. But when white Roanoke hospitals refused to treat him, he was left to attempt a trip to a Washington, D.C., facility instead.


Dr. Burrell died en route. When Roanoke’s first hospital for blacks finally opened on Henry Street in 1915, it was named for him.


Gainsboro was also home to a young Oliver Hill, whose work on the landmark 1954 Brown v. Board of Education Supreme Court case overturned the “separate but equal” laws of the day.


I interviewed Hill in 2006 about segregation in Roanoke. He was one hundred at the time, but he remembered clearly the injustice of Jim Crow dawning on him in 1918, when he had to awaken at 5:00 a.m. for basketball practice in the combination auditorium-gymnasium at Harrison School. “You had to clean up and put the chairs away before you could play. And you knew they had a gymnasium and showers and everything in the white schools,” Hill recalled.


In his autobiography, Hill described trying to sell discarded whiskey bottles he’d collected as a child to a Roanoke distillery to earn some extra change. “When I got up on the second floor, someone yelled out, ‘Grab the little nigger and cut his balls out,’ ” which sent Hill scrambling for his life.


If Gainsboro was a place that occasionally produced Supreme Court litigators and foreign ambassadors — the Talented Tenth, as Du Bois called the black leaders of his day — then Jordan’s Alley was home to the lower 90 percent. Its businesses were comparably much smaller, many of them run by recent Syrian immigrants who lived over their shops. Willie Mae Ingram, known to the community today as Mother Ingram — an honorific given to the wives of pastors — was raised by her grandparents around the corner from Ten-and-a-Half Street, near the same stretch of railroad tracks. Her grandfather kept hogs in a communal pen up the street, and a creek ran through the area where she picked creasy greens. Few houses had furnaces, and it got so cold in winter that her grandmother used to take an old flatiron, heat it on the back of the coal-fired stove, and tuck it into the foot of her bed, wrapped in blankets, to keep her warm.


Willie Mae was eighty-four years old when I spoke to her in 2014, and she is one of a handful of people still living in the community with firsthand knowledge of the Muse brothers. She remembers Harriett Muse because she was strikingly tall and old-fashioned-looking, “with a black dress and an apron, like someone you’d see on a wagon train.”


Everyone knew everyone else in a community where life was lived in the public eye, on the sidewalks, front porches, and alleyways. “You walked everywhere,” said Regina “Sweet Sue” Peeks, eighty-four, including to Harrison School, a mile away in Gainsboro and across the bridge. She was raised near the rail yard by an aunt and uncle, Cora and John Holmes, whom she still refers to as Mama and Daddy. Her biological mother, Genova, lived with them off and on, and worked domestic jobs on Maiden Lane, a white neighborhood across a bridge and a couple of miles away, for a family who refused to pay her extra for Sunday work and made her use the “servants’ bathroom” in their dank, unfinished basement. “They had a pony, and once they even let the ‘poor little colored girl’ come ride it,” she said.


I winced when Sweet Sue told me the family’s name, which I recognized immediately from the deed on my house. I’ve lived on Maiden Lane for fifteen years, and I winter my geraniums in the sink of that very same dank basement (after a heavy rain, it still leaks). When I asked how Genova got to the house, she told me she took the streetcar to Grandin Village, a quaint commercial area filled with restaurants, shops, and a movie theater, then and now.


“And then from there, I suppose she walked,” about eight blocks.


Sweet Sue’s daddy — meaning her uncle, whose nickname was Big John — “hustled for a living.” By which she meant he hopped the passing N&W trains when the Baldwin-Felts policemen who provided private security for the railroad were sleeping on the job and rode in a boxcar to West Virginia, where he picked up corn liquor in ten-gallon cans. Big John sold that liquor for ten cents a shot glass out of an unmarked nip joint he ran from a rented house on Tenth Street, where Cabell Muse must have been familiar, judging from the proclivities that would later dominate family stories and news accounts. Once automobiles became popular, the men in the neighborhood stopped hopping the trains and simply drove to Franklin County, the unabashed moonshine capital of the world.


Another nip joint, across the street from the church, served food and liquor — and rented rooms by the hour. “You could get anything you wanted to in there, and you could dance and, if the wives didn’t catch them there, the men could have all their money spent before they ever made it home,” Sweet Sue said. “You’d be surprised at the people who’d buy whiskey when they wouldn’t have nothing to eat.”


Only whites lived on nearby Salem Avenue in those days, she told me. On her way home from school, she passed the home of an elderly white lady who kept trained parrots on her screened-in front porch.


When she was little and first started walking to school, she dreaded having to pass that Victorian house. But, seeking comfort in numbers, she talked some neighborhood kids into walking with her. Almost eight decades later, Sue still thinks about those parrots every time she passes the spot, though it’s now just a grassy lot.


She still remembers, word for ungrammatical word, the taunt of those parrots when they spotted her and her friends.


“See them little niggers coming,” they squawked.


Sweet Sue and Mother Ingram both grew up as regulars at the spiritual center of the neighborhood, Jerusalem Baptist Church, now 116 years old and still a neighborhood beacon. A few bungalows from the early 1900s still exist, many in states of disrepair, and Sweet Sue pointed them out to me as I drove her around the streets on a crisp autumn day in 2014, along with the long-gone churches and nip joints, and the home of the racist parrots.
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